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CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC’S OPENING BRIEF 
 

Cbeyond Communications, LLC (“Cbeyond”), by its attorneys Kelley Drye & Warren, 

LLP, states as follows for its Initial Brief in support of its Complaint brought pursuant to 

Sections 13-515, 9-250, 10-101 and 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act (“PUA”), and 

pursuant to Sections 200.170 and 200.220 of the Illinois Administrative Code (“Code”).  

Cbeyond respectfully requests that the Commission declare AT&T’s behavior unlawful and 

order AT&T to credit Cbeyond for the illegal loop charges AT&T has billed. 

I. Summary 

This is an unusual billing dispute:  Cbeyond is disputing charges for facilities it does not 

request and AT&T does not provide.  When Cbeyond wants to change a transport unbundled 

network element (“UNE”)1 that is associated with an existing loop, AT&T charges Cbeyond for 

both the new transport (which Cbeyond does not dispute) and for a new loop.  Cbeyond disputes 

the AT&T’s charges for a “new” loop are proper under these circumstances.  There is no new 

loop – when Cbeyond changes its transport, AT&T simply reuses the already-provisioned and 



 
 

 2 

existing old loop.  Neither the customer served by the loop nor Cbeyond get a new wire.  The 

circuit ID of the loop does not change, and the orders specifically state that the loop is not 

disconnected.  Under the parties’ interconnection agreement (“ICA”), Cbeyond is entitled to just 

order new transport and just pay for new transport.  AT&T is not entitled to re-bill Cbeyond 

hundreds of dollars for a loop Cbeyond previously bought.   

AT&T’s behavior violates Cbeyond’s ICA contract with AT&T and damages 

competition in the State of Illinois.  These excessive and unlawful charges by AT&T inhibit 

access to alternative transport providers, thereby also damaging competition.  Those injuries to 

competition violate Illinois law.   

II. Factual Background 

The facts of this case are provided in more detail in Cbeyond’s Complaint and in the 

attached Affidavit of Greg Darnell,2 which Cbeyond incorporates herein.  Rather than restate that 

analysis in its entirety, Cbeyond provides a brief summary of the the basic facts. 

On May 20, 2004, Cbeyond and Illinois Bell executed a contract or Interconnection 

Agreement.3 The Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) approved the terms of the 

ICA in Docket No. 03-0239. That ICA was amended in 2005 to incorporate the TELRIC pricing 

schedule4 and to reflect changes that were required to implement the FCC’s TRO5 and TRRO6 

decisions (referred to herein as “TRO/TRRO Attachment”).  The TRO/TRRO Amendment was 

arbitrated by the Commission in the matter of Access One, Inc., et al. v. Illinois Bell Telephone 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
1  A Glossary of Terms is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
2  The Affidavit of Greg Darnell is attached hereto as Exhibit B (“Darnell Affidavit”).   
3  Cbeyond Complaint ¶ 14. 
4 The Commission issued an order in Docket No. 02-0864 on June 9, 2004 setting forth certain rates and other 
requirements pertaining to UNEs.  Those rates were incorporated by Amendment to the parties’ ICA in Docket 05-
0147. 
5 Triennial Review Order (“TRO”), 18 FCC Rcd. 16978, 2003 WL 22175730 (Sept. 17, 2003). 
6 Triennial Review Remand Order (“TRRO”), 20 FCC Rcd. 2533, 2005 WL 289015 (Feb. 4, 2005). 
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Company, ICC Docket No. 05-0442, Order (December 15, 2005), Amended Order (December 

21, 2005).  

Under the terms of the ICA and pursuant to federal and state law, Cbeyond purchases 

UNEs both individually and in combinations called Enhanced Extended Links (“EELs”).7  UNE 

loops and UNE transport are separate and distinct network elements under the parties’ ICA and 

federal law.8  An EEL is not a network element or a UNE.9  It is just a shorthanded way to refer 

to a common combination of any number of possible loop and transport combinations.10   

After Cbeyond orders a loop and requests that AT&T attach it to a transport facility via a 

cross-connect, Cbeyond may later, for network efficiency and economic reasons, choose to 

change the transport portion of the EEL.11  That change is called “grooming” of the network.  

The change of transport typically involves an order to disconnect up to twenty-eight (28) DS1 

transport UNEs and “groom” the loops attached to them to a new DS3 transport UNE.12  A DS3 

transport UNE can carry the equivalent of 28 DS1 transport UNEs.13  When Cbeyond wants to 

change transport, Cbeyond requests a disconnection of the old transport and also orders the new 

transport.14  

 Apparently for internal system reasons, AT&T requires Cbeyond to submit an order to 

disconnect the circuit with a note that says, “do not disconnect the loop.”15  Cbeyond does not 

                                                 
 
7 Darnell Affidavit ¶¶ 8-20. 
8 Darnell Affidavit ¶11; TRO/TRRO Amendment at Sections 3.1.2 (DS1 Loops),  3.1.4 (DS1 Transport), and 3.1.5 

(DS3 Transport); see also 47 C.F.R. 51.319(a) and (e).  
9 Id.; see also TRO at ¶ 575 (“We decline to designate EELs as additional UNEs for which an impairment analysis is 

necessary.  Instead, we continue to view EELs as UNE combinations consisting of unbundled loops and 
unbundled transport (with or without multiplexing capabilities).”). 

10 Id., Darnell Affidavit ¶ 16. 
11 Darnell Affidavit ¶¶ 21-23. 
12 Id. 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 
15 Id. at ¶ 30. 
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order a new loop and AT&T does not provide a new loop.16  As the order says – AT&T does not 

disconnect the loop.17  However, AT&T charges Cbeyond as if it is disconnecting and installing 

an entirely new loop.18  It is not - AT&T is installing new UNE transport and cross-connecting it 

to an already-existing loop.19   Indeed, the orders are clear:  they say the loops (1) should not be 

disconnected20; (2) have precisely the same loop circuit ID before and after the change21; and (3) 

include a note on the Project Worksheet that there is no need to test the loop (because it is not 

changing).22 

It is important to understand that the cross-connect between the loop and the transport is 

not the same thing as the loop itself.23  A cross-connect is not a loop.  A loop is often referred to 

as “outside plant” and runs thousands of feet between an end user and a wire center.24    

Provisioning a loop involves numerous processes, including truck rolls, installing repeaters, 

doublers, a smart jack and other Digital Service Speed 1 (“DS1”) outside plant installation 

activities, as well as inside plant (wire center) activities.25  The standard interval for installing a 

DS1 loop in Illinois is three to seven days.26   

A cross-connect is several feet of wire connecting two pieces of equipment inside a wire 

center.27  A cross-connect takes a matter of minutes to put in place.28  AT&T’s position – as 

Cbeyond understands it – is that AT&T may charge a set of full loop disconnection and new loop 

                                                 
 
16 Id. at ¶ 25. 
17 Id.; see also Exhibit GJD-2. 
18 Id.; see also Exhibits GJD-1, 3 and 4. 
19 Id. at ¶¶ 49, 53 and 58; see also Exhibits GJD-2 and 5. 
20 Id.; see also Exhibit GJD-2. 
21 Exhibits GJD-2, 3 and 4. 
22 Because grooming involves multiple loops actively serving multiple customers it is always accomplished as a 

coordinated project.  A Project Worksheet is attached as Exhibit GJD-2.  See Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 25.  
23 Darnell Affidavit at ¶¶  9 (loop) and 11 (cross-connect). 
24 Id. at ¶ 9. 
25 Exhibit GJD-5.  
26 Darnell Affidavit at ¶  9. 
27 Id. at ¶  11. 
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installation charges totaling $350.2829 for the installation of the cross-connect between the new 

transport and the existing loop.  In the data underlying the TELRIC cost study, the cross-connect 

between the transport and the loop costs BEGIN CONFIDENTIAL  

 END CONFIDENTIAL times less than the charge AT&T actually imposes.   AT&T’s 

apparent position is doubly-perplexing because the cost of cross-connecting the new transport to 

the existing loop is fully recovered in the cost of the new transport.31   

None of the work identified in the cost-support work papers for AT&T’s charge of 

$350.28 is done when the transport changes.32  That fact is irrefutable.  All of the work identified 

in the cost-support work papers to disconnect the old transport and cross-connect the new 

transport to the existing loops is recovered in the charges for the disconnect of the old transport 

and the installation of the new transport.33  Under the terms of the ICA, the disconnection of 28 

DS1 transport UNEs and the installation of one DS3 transport UNE should cost a total of 

$737.50.34  For that same activity, AT&T is currently billing Cbeyond $10,200.63.35  That 

variance constitutes twenty-eight loop related charges. 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
28 Id.; see also Exhibit GJD-5. 
29 Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 37.  A DS1 Loop service ordering disconnection nonrecurring charge of $8.63 plus DS1 

Loop service order connection non-recurring charge of $11.14 plus 4-wire DS1 Loop Initial disconnection 
provisioning charge of $11.97 plus a 4-wire DS1 Loop Initial connection nonrecurring charges of $248.22 plus 
a Clear Channel Capability protocol conversion nonrecurring charge of $70.32.    All these nonrecurring 
charges combined totals $350.28. 

30 Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 57, see Exhibit GJD-5. 
31 Id. at ¶ 49. 
32 Id. at ¶¶ 48, 55 and 70; see also Exhibit GJD-5. 
33 Id.; see also Exhibit GJD-5 
34 Id. at ¶ 37. 
35 Id. (Although there is some variance in AT&T’s billings, the bills most often constitute: twenty-eight DS1 Loop 

service ordering disconnection nonrecurring charges of $8.63; twenty-eight DS1 Loop service order connection 
non-recurring charges of $11.14, twenty-eight DS1 dedicated transport service ordering disconnection 
nonrecurring charges of $8.63; one DS3 Interoffice UDT service ordering connection nonrecurring charge of 
$11.44, one DS3 Interoffice UDT provisioning charge of $139.71; twenty-eight 4-wire DS1 Loop Initial 
disconnection provisioning charges of $11.97; twenty-eight 4-wire DS1 Loop Initial connection nonrecurring 
charges of $248.22; and twenty-eight Clear Channel Capability protocol conversion nonrecurring charges of 
$70.32.  All these nonrecurring charges total $10,200.63.). 
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A small portion of this dispute (approximately 10% of the amount in dispute) involves a 

slightly different scenario.  The scenario begins in the same way as the main scenario– an 

existing EEL with an existing loop and existing transport – but in this scenario Cbeyond cancels 

the transport it purchased from AT&T in favor of using the transport belonging to a third-party 

CLEC or directly reaching Cbeyond’s network through a newly-installed Cbeyond collocation.36  

In those instances, Cbeyond simply disconnects the transport with AT&T, keeps the loop, and 

provides AT&T the Carrier Facility Assignment (“CFA”) for cross-connecting the existing loop 

to the new third-party CLEC’s collocation or Cbeyond’s collocation.37  The third-party CLEC 

then provides Cbeyond the transport – essentially replacing the transport previously provided by 

AT&T -- or, where Cbeyond is collocated, Cbeyond carries the traffic to its own network 

without transport.38  Again, for apparently internal process reasons, AT&T insists that Cbeyond 

submit a disconnect order for the circuit with a notation to not disconnect the loop.39  AT&T then 

bills Cbeyond for an entirely new loop.40  There is, again, no new loop.  AT&T simply 

disconnects the transport and cross-connects the existing old loops to the CLEC CFA identified 

by Cbeyond.41  The circuit ID of the loop does not change during the process; the disconnect 

order says to not disconnect the loop; and the Project Worksheet notes that there is no need to 

test the loop (because it is not new).42   

Like the prior scenario, AT&T is fully compensated for the cross-connect to the third- 

party CLEC or to Cbeyond in a monthly charge for that cross-connect ($0.43 per month).43  

                                                 
 
36 Id. at ¶¶20-23. 
37 Id. 
38 Id. 
39 Id. at ¶ 25; see also Exhibit GJD-2. 
40 Id. at ¶23; see also Exhibit GJD-1. 
41 Id. at ¶¶23, 59-62; see also Exhibit GJD-5. 
42 Id.; see also Exhibits GJD-2 and 5. 
43 Id. at ¶54; see also ICA Pricing Schedule at page 7.  
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Cbeyond does not dispute the transport disconnection charges.  Because a cross-connect is not a 

loop, and AT&T is compensated for the new cross-connect to the CLEC, AT&T’s full set of loop 

disconnection and new loop installation charges (a $350.28 non-recurring charge) is payment for 

nothing, or unjust enrichment.  Under the terms of the parties’ ICA, the cost to disconnect 28 

DS1 transport UNEs and cross-connect the existing loops to a third-party collocation is 

$586.35.44  AT&T is billing Cbeyond over $9,800 in loop-related charges.45  By increasing the 

cost for access to alternative transport providers by more than 1,600%, AT&T’s unlawful 

charges also clearly constitute an impediment to the development of competition in the 

alternative transport market.46   

AT&T and Cbeyond have been in negotiations on this billing dispute since late 2005.  

For more than a year - from January 2006 to March 2007 - AT&T credited Cbeyond for the types 

of loop charges at issue in this case.47  On March 20, 2007, as part of a large project to groom 

EELs in several wire centers, AT&T agreed in writing to waive all DS1 Loop non-recurring 

charges to change the transport portion of previously installed DS1 EELs from DS1 transport to 

alternative transport provided by a third party.48  AT&T did not honor that commitment.  As a 

consequence, the billing amounts at issue began building on April 3, 2007, when AT&T ceased 

crediting Cbeyond for the erroneous loop nonrecurring charges that it billed Cbeyond.49  Despite 

continuous effort by Cbeyond since late 2005 to find a compromise with AT&T that would 

resolve this dispute, on February 8, 2010, AT&T and Cbeyond both declared that this billing 

dispute was at an impasse in accordance with the Informal Dispute Resolution (“IDR”) process 

                                                 
 
44 Id. at ¶¶ 26, 37; see also ICA Amendment 1 Pricing Schedule.   
45 Id. at ¶37; see also Exhibit GJD-1. 
46 Id. at ¶¶71-83. 
47 Id. at ¶ 5;  see also Cbeyond Complaint at ¶¶3-4, 49-51. 
48 Cbeyond Complaint at ¶¶49-51. 
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set forth in Article 1, Section 1.9.3 of the ICA.50  Cbeyond filed its formal complaint on March 9, 

2010. 

III. Legal Background 

The Commission has addressed the requirements for EELs or other UNE combinations in 

at least five orders since 1996, including the LDDS Order, the TELRIC Order, the GTE Order, 

the TELRIC Compliance Order, and the Globalcom Order.51  The Globalcom Order has a well-

drafted and thorough history detailing the continuing efforts by Ameritech (now AT&T) to 

thwart competitors’ use of EELs.52  In detailing this history, the Commission notes that AT&T 

did not even offer EELs until 2001 – “in ostensible contravention of state and federal law.”53  

And, at every step thereafter, AT&T has either asserted that it does not have an obligation to 

provide the UNE combination at all, that it does not have the obligation to actually combine the 

UNEs that make up an EEL (leaving the CLEC to do the combining), or that AT&T can impose 

various requirements on access to the UNE combinations (like requiring termination in a 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
49  Id. 
50  Id. at ¶ 3. 
51 See Globalcom, Inc. v. Illinois Bell Telephone Company (Ameritech Illinois), Complaint Pursuant to 220 ILCS 

5/13-515, 220 ILCS 5/10-101 and 10-108, ICC Docket 02-0365, Order, October 23, 2002) (“Globalcom 
Order”), attached as Exhibit A, pgs. 20-38 (rev’d in part, 347 Ill. App. 3d 592 (1st Dist. 2004), citing AT&T 
Communications of Illinois, Inc. Petition for a total local exchange wholesale service tariff from Illinois Bell 
Telephone Company d/b/a Ameritech Illinois and Central Telephone Company pursuant to Section 13-505.5 of 
the Illinois Public Utilities Act.; LDDS Communications, Inc. d/b/a LDDS Metromedia Communications 
Petition for a total wholesale network service tariff from Illinois Bell Telephone Company d/b/a Ameritech 
Illinois and Central Telephone Company pursuant to Section 13-505.5 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act, 
Dockets 95-0458 & 95-0531 consol., Order, June 26, 1996 (“LDDS Order”), Investigation into forward-looking 
cost studies and rates of Ameritech Illinois for inter connection, network elements, transport and termination of 
traffic: Illinois Bell Telephone Company, Proposed rates, terms and conditions for unbundled network elements, 
Docket No’s. 96-0486 & 96-0569 consol., 2nd Interim Order, Feb. 17, 1998 (“TELRIC Order”), Investigation 
into GTE North Incorporated’s and GTE South Incorporated’s TELRIC Cost Studies and Establish Rates for 
Interconnection, Unbundled Network Elements, and Transport and Termination of Traffic, Docket 96-0503, 
Order, May 19, 1998 (“GTE Order”), Investigation into the Compliance of Illinois Bell Telephone Company 
with the Order in Docket 96-0486/0569 Consolidated Regarding the Filing of Tariffs and the Accompanying 
Cost Studies for Interconnection, Unbundled Network Elements and Local Transport and Termination and 
Regarding End to End Bundling Issues, Docket 98-0396, Order, Oct. 16, 2001 (“TELRIC Compliance Order”). 

 
52 Id. at pages 20-38. 
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collocation).54  This case now before the Commission represents yet another anticompetitive 

effort by AT&T to illegally precondition access to EELs – this time, by forcing CLECs to pay 

twice for the loop when changing an existing EEL.   

The Commission’s findings in the Globalcom Order are highly instructive here.  In that 

case, Ameritech was accused of imposing unreasonable restraints on access to UNEs used in 

EEL combinations – both by imposing high termination charges when special access EELs were 

converted to UNE EELs and by imposing a requirement that CLECs be collocated in order to 

obtain access to EELs.55  The Commission declared that both practices violated Section 13-514 

of the PUA, stating that Ameritech’s practices “confined Globalcom to more costly [services]”, 

that those higher costs “drew down Globalcom financial resources, impeding its ability to make 

telecommunications services available” and forced Globalcom to either absorb those costs or 

pass them on to consumers.56  Those findings supported the Commission’s conclusion that 

Ameritech violated Section 13-514(8) per se – by violating the ICA and increasing the cost of 

telecommunications services to consumers.57 

The Commission also determined that Ameritech’s interpretation of its tariff was 

“statutorily unreasonable – rather than utterly baseless – because it is not compelled by the 

intrastate tariff’s language, purpose or history, yet impedes the development of competition that 

the PUA strongly mandates.”  That determination supported the Commission’s conclusion that 

Ameritech violated Section 13-514(6) per se – “unreasonably acting . . . in a manner that has a 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
53 Id. at page 19. 
54 Id. at pages 20-38. 
55 Id. at pages 5-7. 
56 Id. at page 17. 
57 Id. 
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substantial adverse effect on the ability of another telecommunications carrier to provide service 

to its customers.”58 

Although the Globalcom Order was reversed on the basis that Ameritech could charge 

early termination penalties for the conversion from special access to UNE EELs,59 every one of 

the Commission’s findings on Ameritech’s anticompetitive behavior were correct.  Unreasonably 

increasing the cost of service to a CLEC impedes competition.  Unreasonably interpreting a tariff 

or interconnection agreement in a manner that damages competition violates Illinois law.   

Indeed, the FCC – whose jurisdiction on this topic is not in question – came to precisely 

the same conclusions regarding the imposition of unsupported charges normally applied to new 

service when an existing EEL is converted.  In the Triennial Review Order (“TRO”), the FCC 

addressed charges ILECs (like AT&T) imposed on converting already existing EELs, including 

reconnection and non-recurring fees such as at issue in this case: 

We recognize, however, that once a competitive LEC starts serving a customer, 
there exists a risk of wasteful and unnecessary charges, such as termination 
charges, re-connect and disconnect fees, or non-recurring charges associated with 
establishing a service for the first time.  We agree that such charges could deter 
legitimate conversions from wholesale services to UNEs or UNE combinations, 
or could unjustly enrich an incumbent LEC as a result of converting a UNE or 
UNE combination to a wholesale service.  Because incumbent LECs are never 
required to perform a conversion in order to continue serving their own 
customers, we conclude that such charges are inconsistent with an incumbent 
LEC’s duty to provide nondiscriminatory access to UNEs and UNE combinations 
on just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory rates, terms, and conditions.  
Moreover, we conclude that such charges are inconsistent with section 202 of the 
Act, which prohibits carriers from subjecting any person or class of persons (e.g., 
competitive LECs purchasing UNEs or UNE combinations) to any undue or 
unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage.60 

 

                                                 
 
58 Id. 
59 Globalcom, Inc. v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 347 Ill. app. 3d 592 (1st Dist. 2004) (reversing the 

Commission’s determination that Illinois Bell could not charge early termination penalties). 
60 TRO at ¶ 587. 
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Thus, just as the Commission found in Globalcom Order, the FCC concluded that ILEC 

practices of imposing high conversion and non-recurring charges “associated with establishing 

service for the first time” are unreasonable, discriminatory and anti-competitive.   

Therefore, the law is plain:  (1) an EEL is not a UNE – it is a combination of UNEs that 

must be made available where the individual UNEs are available; (2) they must be made 

available on just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory rates, terms and conditions; and (3) apart 

from some service eligibility criteria (not at issue here), AT&T may not impose any additional 

conditions or limitations upon obtaining access to the UNEs that make-up EELs and other UNE 

combinations. 

As noted above, our rules currently require incumbent LECs to make UNE 
combinations, including loop-transport combinations, available in all areas where 
the underlying UNEs are available and in all instances where the requesting 
carrier meets the eligibility requirements.  We decline to designate EELs as 
additional UNEs for which an impairment analysis is necessary.  Instead, we 
continue to view EELs as UNE combinations consisting of unbundled loops and 
unbundled transport (with or without multiplexing capabilities).  Pursuant to the 
statute, requesting carriers are entitled to nondiscriminatory access to UNE 
combinations on just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory rates, terms and 
conditions.  Apart from the service eligibility criteria for high-capacity (DS1 or 
DS3) EELs set forth in Part VII below, our rules do not permit incumbent LECs 
to impose additional conditions or limitations upon obtaining access to EELs and 
other UNE combinations, such as requiring a competitive LEC to purchase special 
access and then convert such facilities to UNEs.61 
 
Here, the parties amended their ICA to reflect governing federal and state law.  The EEL-

specific portion of the TRO/TRRO Attachment62 to the ICA provides that: (1) “SBC [now 

AT&T] shall not impose any additional conditions or limitations upon obtaining access to EELs 

or to any other UNE combination other than those set out in this Agreement”63; (2) “SBC shall 

provide access to Section 251 UNEs and combinations of Section 251 UNEs without regard to 

                                                 
 
61 TRO at ¶ 575. 
62 AT&T sometimes refers to the TRO/TRRO Attachment at “Amendment 3.” 
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whether a CLEC seeks access to the UNEs to establish a new circuit or to convert an existing 

circuit from a service to UNEs, provided the rates, terms and conditions under which such 

Section 251 UNEs are to be provided are included within the CLEC’s underlying Agreement”64; 

and (3) “[o]ther than the Eligibility Criteria set forth in this Section, SBC shall not impose 

limitations, restrictions, or requirements on requests for the use of UNEs for the service a CLEC 

seeks to offer.”65 

 The parties’ ICA also codifies some basic elements of the governing federal law by 

providing that: AT&T “shall provide CLEC nondiscriminatory access to Unbundled Network 

Elements, upon request, at any technically feasible point on just, reasonable and 

nondiscriminatory rates, terms and conditions … in accordance with the federal 

Telecommunications Act of 1996, applicable FCC orders, rules and regulations and, applicable 

state statutes, orders, rules and regulations.”66; that AT&T “shall not place any restrictions or 

limitations on CLEC’s use of Network Elements or Unbundled Network Elements or 

Combinations of Unbundled Network Elements other than as set forth in this Agreement and 

other than those restrictions and limitations provided for by the Federal Telecommunications 

Act, the rules and regulations of the Federal Communications Commission and the Illinois Public 

Utilities Act and applicable state laws, rules, orders and regulations.”67; and that AT&T must 

provide non-discriminatory access, at Cbeyond’s request, to Unbundled Dedicated Transport 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
63 TRO/TRRO Attachment at section 6.1. 
64 Id. 
65 Id. at section 6.5. 
66 Interconnection Agreement of Cbeyond and SBC Illinois at section 9.1.1. 
67 Id. at section 9.1.2. 
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(“UDT”) in accordance with 47 C.F.R. 51.319(e)(2).68  The rates for the UDT that Cbeyond 

seeks are included in the ICA.69 

A critical component of the requirements of federal law governing what AT&T may 

charge Cbeyond is 47 C.F.R. §51.507(e) of the FCC rules, which states that “[n]on-recurring 

charges shall … .not permit an incumbent LEC to recover more than the forward-looking 

economic cost of providing the applicable element.”   In plain English, AT&T cannot be unjustly 

enriched by its charges for access to UNEs.  Precisely the practice AT&T is now trying to defend 

in this action. 

The provisions of Illinois law at issue here are Sections 13-514 and 13-801 of the Illinois 

Public Utilities Act.  Section 13-801 mirrors federal obligations.  Section 13-514 provides, in 

relevant part that: 

A telecommunications carrier shall not knowingly impede the development of 
competition in any telecommunications service market. The following prohibited 
actions are considered per se impediments to the development of competition; 
however, the Commission is not limited in any manner to these enumerated 
impediments and may consider other actions which impede competition to be 
prohibited:  

 
(1) unreasonably refusing or delaying interconnections or collocation or providing 
inferior connections to another telecommunications carrier;  
 
(2) unreasonably impairing the speed, quality, or efficiency of services used by 
another telecommunications carrier;  
 

***** 
 
(6) unreasonably acting or failing to act in a manner that has a substantial adverse 
effect on the ability of another telecommunications carrier to provide service to its 
customers;  
 

***** 

                                                 
 
68 TRO/TRRO Attachment at sections 3.1.4 (DS1 Transport) and 3.1.5 (DS3 Transport). 
69 Pricing Schedule and Amendment1 Pricing Schedule. 
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(8) violating the terms of or unreasonably delaying implementation of an 
interconnection agreement entered into pursuant to Section 252 of the federal 
Telecommunications Act of 1996 in a manner that unreasonably delays, increases 
the cost, or impedes the availability of telecommunications services to consumers;  
 

***** 
(10) unreasonably failing to offer network elements that the Commission or the 
Federal Communications Commission has determined must be offered on an 
unbundled basis to another telecommunications carrier in a manner consistent 
with the Commission's or Federal Communications Commission's orders or rules 
requiring such offerings;  
  
(11) violating the obligations of Section 13-801;  
 
(12) violating an order of the Commission regarding matters between 
telecommunications carriers. 

 
The Commission has jurisdiction over alleged violations of these Illinois statues pursuant to 

Sections 9-250, 10-101, 10-108, 13-514 and 13-515 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act. 

IV. Argument 

In both of the scenarios involved in this case, as described above, AT&T is charging 

Cbeyond a full loop installation charge when Cbeyond does not order -- and AT&T does not 

provide -- a new loop.  That behavior imposes significantly higher costs on Cbeyond, both in 

provide competitive service in Illinois and in using alternative competitive transport.  These 

impacts constitute per se violations of Sections 13-514 and 13-801 of the PUA.  These charges 

also violate the parties’ Interconnection Agreement, which itself is a per se violation of PUA 

Section 13-514.  Cbeyond respectfully requests that the Commission declare AT&T’s behavior 

unlawful and order AT&T to credit Cbeyond for the illegal loop charges AT&T has billed. 

A.  Access to EELs Drives the Development of Competition. 

Section 13-514 of the PUA prohibits a carrier from impeding the development of 

competition in Illinois.  220 ILCS 5/13-514.  EELs – and reasonable access to EELs – are a 

critical component of Illinois’ competitive telecommunications marketplace.  In the TRO, the 
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FCC concluded, based on record evidence, that “EELs facilitate the growth of facilities-based 

competition in the local market … Moreover, we find that access to EELs also promotes self-

deployment of interoffice transport facilities by competitive LECs because such carriers will 

eventually self-provision transport facilities to accommodate growing demand.  We further agree 

that the availability of EELs and other UNE combinations promotes innovation because 

competitive LECs can provide advanced switching capabilities in conjunction with loop-

transport combinations.”70  In sum, the availability of EELs facilitates and expands competition, 

promotes innovation and reduces the cost of providing telecommunication services.  AT&T’s 

actions in this case materially increase the cost to Cbeyond to maintain an economically and 

technically efficient network to serve its customers.71  Those increased costs directly impact 

Cbeyond’s ability to compete in Illinois.72  AT&T’s actions also materially increase the cost for 

CLECs like Cbeyond to convert to alternative transport offered by AT&T’s competitors.73   

Therefore, AT&T’s practices are contrary to the law. 

The FCC identified the driving force behind the deployment of competitive transport as 

the revenue available from its use:   

“While the cost of deployment increases with the length of a transport 
segment, as described below, the revenues generated increase with the 
amount of traffic that is carried on a particular transport route.  Thus, 
when deciding whether and where to build their own facilities, 
competitive LECs look first at the shortest routes that have the greatest 
potential for traffic aggregation.  Furthermore, the revenues generated by 
dedicated transport do not depend on maintaining a single customer, or 
even several customers, but rather on maintaining a certain level of traffic 
on a route.  Compared to loops, which serve individual customers, 
dedicated transport carries much more traffic and has much greater 
potential for added future traffic, as competitive LECs continue to 

                                                 
 
70 TRO at ¶ 576 (footnotes omitted). 
71 Darnell Affidavit at ¶¶71-83. 
72 Id. 
73 Id. 
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aggregate traffic on a route.  For these reasons, competitive LECs can take 
advantage of economies of scale, and can also make decisions about 
whether to self-deploy transport based not only on actual traffic, but on 
potential traffic as well.”74   
 

Obviously, where the ILEC (here AT&T) creates enormous financial impediments to the 

potential customers’ use of such competitive transport, not only are the existing competitive 

transport providers robbed of their customers, but the remaining competitive providers are 

dissuaded from even deploying such facilities for lack of potential customers.75 

EELs allow Cbeyond to efficiently develop sufficient volume of transport to make use of 

competitive transport providers (or deploy transport itself).  As the FCC recognized, EELs drive 

the availability of competition beyond the limited reach of the wire centers where CLECs are 

collocated and develop sufficient volume to encourage use of alternative transport or self-

deployment of transport.76  In all of those circumstances, the availability of EELs and the ready 

economic conversion of the transport portion of EELs benefits competition.  It is axiomatic, 

therefore, that massively increasing the cost to convert EELs to competitive transport harms 

competition.  That is what AT&T is doing in Illinois. 

Because AT&T has unreasonably acted in a manner that has had a substantial adverse 

effect on the ability of other carriers to provide transport services to Cbeyond, it has per se 

violated Section 13-514(6) of the PUA, 220 ILCS 5/13-514(6).  It is critical that the Commission 

force AT&T to stop its anticompetitive behavior and censure AT&T to punish it for the damage 

it has inflicted on Illinois telecommunications marketplace as well as to dissuade AT&T from 

engaging in similar behavior in the future.77  

                                                 
 
74 TRRO ¶ 71. 
75 Darnell Affidavit at ¶¶71-83. 
76 TRRO ¶ 71. 
77 Darnell Affidavit at ¶86. 
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B.  AT&T Knowingly Violated its Interconnection Agreement with Cbeyond. 

By imposing a requirement that Cbeyond pay for a new loop when it wishes to only order 

new UNE transport, AT&T violates the parties’ ICA.  The ICA provides that “SBC shall not 

impose any additional conditions or limitations upon obtaining access to EELs or to any other 

UNE combination other than those set out in this Agreement.”78  The ICA makes no mention of a 

requirement of repaying for an existing loop when Cbeyond wants to change the transport 

associated with it.  Yet, as detailed herein, AT&T is “imposing” that very “condition” upon 

obtaining a new transport portion of an existing EEL.  In the absence of a clear provision 

allowing AT&T to increase the cost of access to UNE transport by many multiples, AT&T’s 

interpretation of its Interconnection is “statutorily unreasonable . . . because it is not compelled 

by the [Interconnection Agreement’s] language, purpose or history, yet impedes the development 

of competition that the PUA strongly mandates.”79 

The EEL-specific portions of the TRO/TRRO Attachment further provides that “SBC 

shall provide access to Section 251 UNEs and combinations of Section 251 UNEs without regard 

to whether CLEC seeks access to the UNEs to establish a new circuit or to convert an existing 

circuit from a service to UNEs provided the rates, terms and conditions under which such 

Section 251 UNEs are to be provided are included within the CLEC’s underlying Agreement.”80  

Here, Cbeyond seeks access to a UNE – Unbundled Dedicated Transport.  That UNE is available 

under the “Agreement’s rates, terms and conditions.”81  Indeed, the ICA states that AT&T must 

                                                 
 
78 TRO/TRRO Attachment at section 6.1. 
79 Globalcom Order at page 17. 
80 TRO/TRRO Attachment at section 6.1. 
81 TRO/TRRO Attachment at sections 3.1.4 (DS1 Transport) and 3.1.5 (DS3 Transport). 
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provide non-discriminatory access, at Cbeyond’s request, to Unbundled Dedicated Transport 

(“UDT”) in accordance with 47 C.F.R. 51.319(e)(2).82     

47 C.F.R. §51.319 requires, in relevant part, that “An incumbent LEC shall provide a 

requesting telecommunications carrier with nondiscriminatory access to dedicated transport on 

an unbundled basis, in accordance with section 251(c)(3) of the Act and this part . . .”  47 U.S.C. 

251(c)(3) requires access to UNEs “at any technically feasible point on rates, terms, and 

conditions that are just, reasonable and nondiscriminatory in accordance with the terms of the 

agreement and the requirements of this section and section 252.”  Section 252 requires, among 

other things, TELRIC pricing for access to UNEs.83  Cbeyond wishes to combine UNE transport 

with existing UNE loops in a technically feasible manner.  That connection is included in the 

charge for the new UNE transport.84  By imposing charges that increase the cost to access to 

UNE transport multifold, AT&T is not providing access to that UNE on just and reasonable 

terms.  AT&T’s imposition of significant new loop charges in connection with Cbeyond’s 

request for new transport violates AT&T’s obligation under the ICA (and the law it incorporates) 

to provide access to UNE transport at reasonable terms and at TELRIC rates. 

 Finally, the ICA specifically identifies the limits AT&T may place on Cbeyond’s access 

to EELs:  “[o]ther than the Eligibility Criteria set forth in this Section, SBC shall not impose 

limitations, restrictions, or requirements on requests for the use of UNEs for the service CLEC 

seeks to offer.”85  There is no issue in this case with Cbeyond’s adherence to EEL eligibility 

criteria.  That is the only “limitation, restriction or requirement” AT&T may impose on 

Cbeyond’s use of a UNE in an EEL combination.  Cbeyond is requesting the use of a UNE – 

                                                 
 
82 Id. 
83 47 U.S.C. §252(d). 
84 Darnell Affidavit at ¶¶ 48, 55 and 70.  See also Exhibit GJD-5. 
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UNE transport – for combination with existing loops.  AT&T is imposing significant 

requirements on Cbeyond’s request for that UNE – thousands of dollars in new UNE loop 

installation charges.86  Those additional requirements directly and materially violate the 

Interconnection Agreement. 

AT&T’s violation of these EEL-specific terms included in the TRO/TRRO Attachment is 

particularly galling because they were incorporated, in part, to reflect the FCC’s admonition 

against imposing “wasteful and unnecessary charges, such as termination charges, re-connect 

and disconnect fees, or non-recurring charges associated with establishing a service for the first 

time.”87  The FCC’s determination “that such charges could deter legitimate conversions from 

wholesale services to UNEs or UNE combinations, or could unjustly enrich an incumbent LEC 

as a result of converting a UNE or UNE combination to a wholesale service”  is precisely the 

competitive harm at issue here.88  Moreover, the FCC concluded “that such charges are 

inconsistent with section 202 of the Act, which prohibits carriers from subjecting any person or 

class of persons (e.g., competitive LECs purchasing UNEs or UNE combinations) to any undue 

or unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage.”89   

The fact that the FCC admonished incumbent carriers, including AT&T, against 

imposing unreasonable charges on EEL conversions establishes that AT&T was, and remains, 

well aware of those limits.  Yet, AT&T insisted, and continues to insist, that it may impose those 

very unreasonable “re-connect and disconnect fees, or non-recurring charges associated with 

establishing a service for the first time” here without any mandate in law or the Interconnection 

                                                                                                                                                             
 
85 TRO/TRRO Attachment at section 6.5. 
86 Darnell Affidavit at ¶ 37; see also Exhibit GJD-1. 
87 TRO at ¶ 587. 
88 Id. 
89 Id. (footnotes omitted).  
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Agreement.  AT&T cannot claim ignorance of the rules or the meaning of the Iinterconnection 

Agreement’s terms.  

Because AT&T has violated its Interconnection Agreement with Cbeyond, and it has 

unreasonably acted in a manner that has violated the terms of the parties’ Interconnection 

Agreement in a manner that increases the cost, and impedes the availability of 

telecommunications services to consumers, it has per se violated Section 13-514(8) of the PUA, 

220 ILCS 5/13-514(8).  AT&T has also unreasonably failed to offer network elements that the 

Commission and the Federal Communications Commission have determined must be offered on 

an unbundled basis in a manner consistent with the Commission's and Federal Communications 

Commission's orders and rules requiring such offerings.  As a consequence, AT&T has violated 

Section 13-514(10) of the PUA, 220 ILCS 5/13-514(10) per se. 

Moreover, by imposing nonrecurring charges that have not been authorized under the 

Commission’s Order in Docket No. 02-0864, AT&T has violated an order of the Commission 

regarding matters between telecommunications, carriers, in per se violation of Section 13-

514(12) of the PUA, 220 ILCS 5/13-514(12).  Finally, by committing the alleged violations of 

the Interconnection Agreement and Section 13-801, AT&T has unreasonably violated its 

obligations imposed by Section 13-801.  This conduct by AT&T is a per se violation of Section 

13-514(11) of the PUA, 220 ILCS 5/13-514(11). 

IV.  Conclusion 

As a consequence of the foregoing, Cbeyond respectfully requests that the Commission 

grant its Complaint and Request for Declaratory Ruling, enter judgment in favor of Cbeyond and 

against AT&T, and that the Commission: 
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A. Declare that AT&T’s billing for services not provided to Cbeyond are: 
 
1. a material breach of the terms of the Interconnection Agreement between 
AT&T and Cbeyond; 
 
2. a violation of Section 13-514 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act;  
 
3. a violation of Section 13-801(b) of the Illinois Public Utilities Act; 
 
4. a violation of Section 9-250 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act; and, 
 

B. Order AT&T to cease and desist from its breaching the terms of the 
Interconnection Agreement with Cbeyond; 

 
C. Order AT&T to cease and desist from violating Section 13-514; 
 
D. Order AT&T to cease and desist from violating Section 13-801(b); 
 
E. Order AT&T to cease and desist from violating Section 9-250; 
 
F. Order AT&T to credit Cbeyond for all inappropriate charges imposed since 

inception; 
 
G. Order AT&T to pay to Cbeyond an amount equal to its direct, proximate and 

consequential damages, attorney fees and all other costs associated with bringing 
this action pursuant to Section 13-516(a)(3); 

 
H. Order AT&T to reimburse the Commission for the costs associated with 

proceeding pursuant to Section 13-515(g); 
 
I. Order AT&T to pay penalties of up to $30,000 or 0.00825% of the 

telecommunications carrier's gross intrastate annual telecommunications revenue, 
whichever is greater, per violation pursuant to Section 13-516(a)(2); 

 
J. Grant Cbeyond such other relief, including the imposition of penalties against 

AT&T, as mandated by statute or the Commission shall deem appropriate and 
just. 

 
 

    Respectfully Submitted, 
 

Dated:  August  13, 2010   CBEYOND COMMUNICATIONS, LLC  
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     _________________________________ 
      By one of its attorneys 

 
Henry T. Kelly 
Michael R. Dover 
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP 
333 West Wacker Drive, 26th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
(312) 857-2350 
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